91514-8

FILED March 17, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

Supreme Court No. \_\_\_\_\_(Court of Appeals No. 71106-7-I)

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

.

STATE OF WASHINGTO	N, FILED
Respondent,	APR - 3 7015
v.	CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
GENE PALMER,	E STATE OF WASHINGTON
Petitioner.	CRE
PETITION FOR REVIEW	V

LILA J. SILVERSTEIN Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711 lila@washapp.org

##

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Petitioner Gene Palmer asks this Court to review the opinion of the Court of Appeals in *State v. Palmer*, No. 71106-7-I. A copy is attached as Appendix A.

#### B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

4

1. Did the State fail to prove that Mr. Palmer knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his right to appeal the restitution order, where he was not present at the restitution hearing, the plea agreement stated "no restitution," and there is no evidence in the record that Mr. Palmer was informed that over \$10,000 in restitution was imposed and that he had a right to appeal that order?

2. Did the prosecutor breach the plea agreement and violate Mr. Palmer's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process by advocating for the imposition of over \$10,000 in restitution after agreeing to recommend "no restitution?"

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State and Gene Palmer entered into a plea agreement under which Mr. Palmer agreed to plead guilty to one count of False Information by a Claimant in exchange for the State recommending six months of confinement and "[n]o restitution." CP 101-05. The prosecutor at first complied with this agreement, telling the court:

Your Honor, the parties have an agreed recommendation to the court of six months. The defendant's already served six months on this particular offense. We're not asking the court to order restitution in this case. It's my understanding restitution was repaid to DSHS already, and the restitution to L&I has been ordered in a civil hearing, and that restitution has already been litigated along with the civil penalty.

RP (10/27/11) 10. The prosecutor further explained that because

restitution is not dischargeable in bankruptcy, it could be recouped from

future benefits. RP (10/27/11) 10.

The judge was unsatisfied with this remedy, stating that he

preferred to have the option of threatening people with jail for failure to

pay. RP (10/27/11) 10. The court accordingly scheduled a restitution

hearing, stating:

.

[T]his is my duty, not the State, and I can order a restitution hearing and I can have these fraud investigators show up and tell me in person why they think there is no restitution when I'm sitting here reading an affidavit of probable cause that says there was \$13,000 that was taken.

RP (10/27/11) 13.

Mr. Palmer waived his presence at the restitution hearing, with the understanding that the attorneys were still complying with the plea agreement and recommending no restitution. RP (11/10/11) 21-22; RP (10/8/13) 4-5. Defense counsel reminded the court that "the whole basis of the plea of guilty here, the basis of that was this agreement that there would be no restitution." RP (11/10/11) 24. The State, however, filed a

written memo and made an oral presentation urging the court to impose over \$10,000 in restitution. CP 59-80; RP (11/10/11) 23-24, 30-31, 37-39.

1

Although defense counsel's primary position was that there should be no restitution, his alternative argument was that Mr. Palmer should pay approximately \$4,000, not \$10,000. Mr. Palmer had already paid back over \$7,000 and he was unable to work during a significant portion of the periods the State represented that he was able to work. RP (11/10/11) 27-29, 32. The prosecutor fought this alternative argument as well, insisting that "we come up with a much higher number than defense counsel." RP (11/10/11) 31.

The court ruled in favor of the State, and set restitution in the amount of \$10,929.93. RP (11/10/11) 41; CP 17.

Mr. Palmer did not pay the restitution. The State moved to modify the sentence, asking the court to impose jail time for the failure to pay. CP 6. Mr. Palmer appeared at the hearing *pro se*, and said "I don't have any restitution. ... I pleaded my case out for no restitution." RP (9/17/13) 3. The court continued the hearing so counsel could be appointed for Mr. Palmer. RP (9/17/13) 7.

At the next hearing, Mr. Palmer again insisted he did not owe any restitution. His newly appointed attorney acknowledged that the judgment and sentence indicated that there would be a restitution hearing, but he

was concerned because "Mr. Palmer indicates that he never agreed to restitution on the plea form itself or on the plea itself. And the plea form does indicate no restitution which was signed by the judge." RP (10/8/13) 4.

,

Given the uncertainty surrounding the issue, the court said, "I'm not inclined to try to impose any kind of punitive sanctions or anything like that at this point given the posture of the case and the apparent questions that have arisen." RP (10/8/13) 10. The State agreed that the court did not need to impose sanctions, but stated that because Mr. Palmer insisted he had no restitution, there should be "a clear order from the court that the defendant has to pay this." RP (10/8/13) 11.

The parties argued about what monthly payment amount the court should set. RP (10/8/13) 14-15. Mr. Palmer himself spoke, and again said, "I pleaded it out. No restitution. I made sure of that. He agreed." RP (10/8/13) 16.

The court ordered Mr. Palmer to pay 40 dollars per month. RP (10/8/13) 19; CP 3-5. Mr. Palmer appealed from the order entered on October 8, 2013. CP 1-2. Concurrent with the opening brief, Mr. Palmer also filed a motion to enlarge the time to file a notice of appeal from the underlying restitution order, because Mr. Palmer did not knowingly waive the right to appeal that order. In the brief, Mr. Palmer argued that the

prosecutor breached the plea agreement by arguing in favor of over

\$10,000 in restitution after promising to request "no restitution."

#### D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

,

1. This Court should grant review because the right to appeal is a fundamental constitutional right and the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *State v. Sweet*.

The Washington Constitution guarantees criminal defendants the right to appeal. Const. art. I, § 22. Because the right is explicitly provided in our state constitution, "it is to be accorded the highest respect." *State v. Sweet*, 90 Wn.2d 282, 286, 581 P.2d 579 (1978). The right to appeal includes the right to appeal restitution. *State v. Kinneman*, 122 Wn. App. 850, 859, 95 P.3d 1277 (2004) *aff'd*, 155 Wn.2d 272, 119 P.3d 350 (2005).

A defendant may waive his constitutional right to appeal, but courts will not presume waiver. *Sweet*, 90 Wn.2d at 286. The State bears the burden of proving that a defendant has made a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary waiver of the right to appeal. *Id*.

Although RAP 5.2(a) requires a litigant to file a notice of appeal within 30 days of the entry of the order appealed, RAP 18.8(a) allows the court to enlarge the time within which an act must be done in a particular case in order to serve the ends of justice. *State v. Chetty*, 167 Wn. App. 432, 438-39, 272 P.3d 918, 922 (2012). The ends of justice require enlargement of the time to file an appeal where the defendant did not knowingly waive his constitutional right to appeal. *City of Seattle v. Klein*, 161 Wn.2d 554, 561, 166 P.3d 1149 (2007).

"[A] procedural defect (failure to file or failure to appear), without notice that the right to appeal may be lost, does not constitute knowing waiver of the core constitutional right." *Id.* "[I]naction by the appellant may establish a valid waiver only when the appellant has been *informed* of the consequences of his or her conduct." *Id.* (emphasis in original). "[A]n involuntary forfeiture of the right to a criminal appeal is never valid." *State v. Kells*, 134 Wn.2d 309, 313, 949 P.2d 818 (1998).

In this case, Mr. Palmer was not present at the restitution hearing, did not know restitution had been imposed, and was not told he had the right to appeal the restitution order. Thus, he did not knowingly waive his right to appeal the restitution order.

At the two hearings on the State's motion to modify sentence for failure to pay restitution, Mr. Palmer repeatedly insisted he did not have to pay restitution *at all*. Clearly, he did not understand that restitution had been ordered and did not knowingly and competently waive his right to appeal the restitution order.

In ruling to the contrary, the Court of Appeals erred in several respects. First, it conflated the right to be present with the right to appeal.

The court averred that by waiving his right to be present at the restitution hearing, Mr. Palmer simultaneously forfeited any claim that he did not knowingly waive his right to appeal the resulting order. Slip Op. at 6-7. But the rights to be present and to appeal are separate rights, and a waiver of one does not automatically effect waiver of the other. Const. art. I, § 22; *Cf. City of Seattle v. Klein*, 161 Wn.2d 554, 166 P.3d 1149 (2007) (defendants did not waive their rights to appeal by failing to appear at review hearings); *cf. also In re Morris*, 176 Wn. 2d 157, 166, 288 P.3d 1140 (2012) (Waiver of the right to be present should not be conflated with waiver of the right to a public trial).

The Court of Appeals also improperly shifted the burden to Mr. Palmer to prove he did not knowingly waive his constitutional right to appeal. The Court stated, "Palmer makes no claim that his counsel failed to inform him of the result of the hearing or his right to appeal from the order entered...." Slip Op. at 7. This is not true, as Mr. Palmer stated, "Mr. Palmer was not present, was not aware that restitution was ordered, and was unaware of his right to appeal the restitution order." Motion to Expand Notice of Appeal at 1. In any event, it is the *State's* burden to prove that Mr. Palmer knowingly waived the right to appeal; it is not Mr. Palmer's burden to prove that he did not. *State v. Sweet*, 90 Wn.2d 282, 283-84, 581 P.2d 579 (1978) ("We hold that it is the State's burden to affirmatively demonstrate waiver.").

Finally, the Court of Appeals implied that Mr. Palmer knowingly waived his right to appeal on October 27, 2011, when he pleaded guilty and the judgment and sentence was entered. Slip Op. at 7-8. The court repeatedly quoted the portion of the judgment that says a notice of appeal must be filed within 30 days of the entry of the judgment or the right to appeal the judgment is "irrevocably waived." Slip Op. at 3, 7.

But of course, at this point, no restitution had been ordered. Mr. Palmer did not want to appeal the judgment entered on October 27, 2011, because it imposed the agreed-upon term of incarceration and stated only that restitution "may be set by later order of the court." CP 86. Mr. Palmer was not required to preemptively appeal something that had not yet been set, especially since he believed the State would comply with its agreement to request no restitution. The State never demonstrated that Mr. Palmer was advised of his right to appeal the restitution order as opposed to the pre-restitution judgment. *Cf. Kells*, 134 Wn.2d at 314 (guilty plea waived right to appeal determination of guilt, but not right to appeal declination order).

In sum, this Court should grant review because the right to appeal is a fundamental constitutional right in Washington and the Court of

Appeals misapplied this Court's caselaw and improperly shifted the burden of proof to Mr. Palmer. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3).

#### 2. The prosecutor breached the plea agreement by arguing in favor of over \$10,000 in restitution after promising to request "no restitution."

On the merits, a new restitution hearing should be granted because the prosecutor breached the plea agreement. Plea agreements implicate the accused's fundamental right to due process, and a prosecutor's breach of the plea agreement violates the Fourteenth Amendment. *State v. Sledge*, 133 Wn.2d 828, 839, 947 P.2d 1199 (1997); U.S. Const. amend. XIV. Although the prosecutor has a duty to participate in sentencing and answer the court's questions candidly, "the State has a concomitant duty not to undercut the terms of the agreement explicitly or by conduct evidencing an intent to circumvent the terms of the plea agreement." *Sledge*, 133 Wn.2d at 840.

The prosecutor in this case breached the plea agreement and violated Mr. Palmer's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process. The terms of the plea agreement clearly called for the State to recommend no restitution, because Mr. Palmer had already repaid DSHS and the restitution owed to Labor & Industries was being addressed in civil proceedings. CP 101-05; RP (10/27/11) 10. Nevertheless, at the hearing

the prosecutor recommended over \$10,000 in restitution. CP 59-80; RP (11/10/11) 23-24, 30-31, 37-39.

To be sure, the court had indicated that it was inclined to order restitution notwithstanding any agreement, and the prosecutor was obligated to participate in the hearing and answer any of the court's questions truthfully. *See Sledge*, 133 Wn.2d at 840; *State v. Talley*, 134 Wn.2d 176, 178, 949 P.2d 358 (1998). But this does not absolve the State of its duty to comply with the terms of the agreement. *Sledge*, 133 Wn.2d at 840. Although a prosecutor may participate in a court-ordered evidentiary hearing, he or she is still "obliged to make the agreed upon sentencing recommendation." *Talley*, 134 Wn.2d at 186-87.

Here, the prosecutor did not make the agreed upon recommendation. Instead, the State affirmatively argued in favor of restitution, and even fought Mr. Palmer's attempts at a fallback position of \$4,000 in restitution. CP 59-80; RP (11/10/11) 23-24, 30-31, 37-39. The prosecutor insisted, "we come up with a much higher number than defense counsel." RP (11/10/11) 31. The prosecutor took an adversarial position throughout the hearing, but Mr. Palmer was entitled to "the presentation of a 'united front' to the court." *United States v. Alcala-Sanchez*, 666 F.3d 571, 575 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2012). There can be no doubt that the State breached the plea agreement in this case by urging the court to impose restitution – and

to impose a large sum – after agreeing to recommend no restitution. *See Talley*, 134 Wn.2d at 187 (State may participate in hearing and present evidence to assist court, but may not, through words or conduct, contradict the agreed recommendation). For this reason, too, this Court should grant review.

#### E. CONCLUSION

٠

.

Gene Palmer respectfully requests that this Court grant review. DATED this 16th day of March, 2015.