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

V. ARGUMENT 

Palmer alleges in his petition that he has met the limited 

circumstances for review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) by stating that the court of 

appeals decision conflicts with the court's decision in State v. Sweet. 

State v. Sweet, 90 Wn.2d. 282, 581 P.2d 579 (1978). However, to the 

contrary, the court of appeal's decision followed State v. Svveet when it 
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found that the State met its burden that Palmer knowingly, intelligently 

and voluntarily waive his right to appeal the Restitution Order. See Id. 

Since Palmer has not met any of the criteria governing acceptance of 

review under RAP 13.4(bi this court should deny Palmer's petition. 

A. The Court of Appeals Decision Followed State v. Sweet when it 
Found the State met its Burden that Palmer Knowingly, 
Intelligently, and Voluntarily Waived His Right to Appeal. 

Reviewing the same record and citing to the same cases as Palmer, 

State v. Sweet and State v. Kells as well as citing to State v. Chetty, the 

Court of Appeals decision was clear that it followed State v. Sweet in 

finding the State met its burden that Palmer knowingly, intelligently and 

voluntarily waived his constitutional right to appeal. Slip Op. at 8; Sweet, 

90 Wn.2d. at 282; State v. Chetty, 184 Wn. App. 607, 612, 338 P.3d. 298 

(2014); State v. Kells, 134 Wn.2d. 309,949 P.2d. 818 (1998). 

While Palmer continues to argue that he did not waive his right to 

appeal because he did not know restitution was ordered and did not know 

that he had a right to appeal, the record reflects the contrary. Petition of 

Appellant (Pet. App.) at 6. Palmer was present when the court "order[ed] 

3 RAP 13.4(b) A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: 
(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the 
Supreme Court; or 
(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of 
the Court of Appeals; or 
(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of 
Washington or of the United States is involved; or 
( 4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be 
determined by the Supreme Court. 
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restitution in an amount to be determined, and ... set it on for a restitution 

hearing." RP (1 0/27/11) at 15-17. Palmer participated in picking the 

restitution hearing date. RP (10/27/11) at 19. The Judgment and Sentence 

shows restitution was ordered since the box next to the word 

"RESTITUTION" was checked. CP at 86 (emphasis in original). Palmer 

signed the Judgment and Sentence that ordered restitution and set the 

restitution hearing date. CP at 89. Palmer was advised. of his right to 

appeal in paragraph 5.8 of the Judgment and Sentence, including that his 

right must be exercised within 30 days otherwise it would be 

"IRREVOCABLY WAIVED." CP at 89 (emphasis in original). 

This paragraph begins with the words "RIGHT TO APPEAL." CP at 89 

(emphasis in original). Palmer signed the Judgment and Sentence on the 

same page as the advisement of the right to appeal. CP at 89. Palmer chose 

to appear at the restitution hearing solely through his attorney and have his 

presence waived. RP (11/10/11) at 21-22; CP at 89. Subsequently, Palmer 

was contacted by the clerk's office for non-payment of restitution. 

CP at 9-10. Lastly, Palmer admitted he knew a restitution hearing had 

been held and he "didn't have to be present .... " RP (10/8/13) at 17. 

Clearly, Palmer was aware restitution was ordered and was advised he had 

a right to appeal. His failure to appeal the Restitution Order or the 

Judgment and Sentence simply shows he waived his right to appeal. 
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Alternatively, the doctrine of invited error is applicable and is not 

precluded by State v. Sweet as noted in the Court of Appeals Decision. 

Slip Op. at 8-9 citing In re Pers. Restrain ofCall, 144 Wn.2d 315, 328, 28 

P.3d. 709 (2001); State v. Wakefield, 130 Wn.2d 464, 475, 925 P.2d 183 

(1996); State v. Heddrick, 166 Wn.2d 898, 909, 215 P.3d 201 (2009); 

State v. Lewis, 15 Wn. App. 172, 177, 548 P.2d 587 (1976). Since Palmer 

affirmatively created the alleged error that caused him to waive his right to 

appeal, the doctrine of invited error caused him to lose his right to appeal, 

not the absence of a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary waiver of the right 

to appeal, and thus the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with 

State v. Sweet. See Id. 

Palmer's petition should be denied since Palmer's petition does not 

meet the requirements of RAP 13.4(b) because the Court of Appeals 

Decision followed rather than conflicted with State v. Sweet when it found 

the State met its burden that Palmer knowingly, intelligently, and 

voluntarily waiveq his right to appeal the Restitution Order. Alternatively, 

under the doctrine of invited error, Palmer is precluded from receiving 

appellate relief since Palmer's purported lack of knowledge that restitution 

was ordered was because he chose not to attend the restitution hearing and 

appeared solely through his attorney. 
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B. The State Did Not Breach the Plea Agreement by Participating 
in the Court's Restitution Hearing, Answering the Trial 
Court's Direct Questions, and Correcting a Factual 
Misstatement, While Maintaining Its Plea Recommendation of 
No Restitution. 

Palmer's second argument, alleging the prosecutor breached the 

plea agreement, does not set out or meet any of the limited circumstances 

for review under RAP 13 .4(b ); thus his argument should be discounted 

and his petition denied. If this court reviews Palmer's argument on its 

merits, likewise the appeal should be denied since the prosecutor did not 

breach the plea agreement by answering the court's questions. As noted by 

the Court of Appeals in footnote 9, Palmer's argument fails since the 

record is clear that the prosecutor did not breach the plea agreement, rather 

the Superior Court Judge was very clear that he believed it was his right 

and obligation to order restitution despite the parties' agreement and 

recommendations. Slip Op. at 9. 

When a defendant gives up constitutional rights by accepting a 

plea bargain, the State's sentencing recommendation to the court must 

adhere to the terms of the agreement. State v. Sledge, 133 Wn.2d 828; 838" 

39, 947 P.2d 1199 (1997). Nevertheless, "[the State] is obliged to act in 

good faith, participate in the sentencing proceedings, answer the court's 

questions candidly in accordance with [the duty of candor towards the 

tribunal] and, consistent with RCW 9.94A.460, not hold back relevant 
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information regarding the plea agreement." !d. at 840. The State, as an 

officer of the court, has a duty of candor toward the tribunal under the 

Rules of Professional Conduct 3.3, and has an ethical obligation to answer 

questions honestly and to correct factual inaccuracies. See United States v. 

Mondragon, 228 F.3d 978, 980 (9th Cir. 2000). 

The State does not breach a plea agreement by participating in 

court proceedings. State v. Talley, 134 Wn.2d. 176, 185-186, 949 P.2d 358 

(1998). Further, "[p]resenting evidence that will help the court make 

a decision does not amount to advocating against its earlier 

recommendation. Thus it does not violate the terms of the plea 

agreement." !d. at 186 (quoting State v. Talley, 83 Wn. App. 750, 759, 923 

P.2d 721 (1996)). 

"[N]o rule of general application" exists "to guide an appellate 

court in determining whether the State adhered to or undercut a plea 

agreement." State v. Van Buren, 101 Wn. App. 206, 215, 2 P.3d 991 

(2000) (internal quotations omitted). Using an objective standard, courts 

review the totality of a prosecutor's actions and comments from the entire 

sentencing record to determine if a prosecutor breached a plea agreement. 

State v. Jerde, 93 Wn. App. 774, 780, 782, 970 P.2d 781 (1999). 

The parties agreed "the court indicated that it was inclined to order 

restitution notwithstanding any agreement[.]" Brief of Appellant at 7. 
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The parties also agree the State had an obligation to participate in the 

restitution hearing and answer the trial court's questions candidly. 

Pet. App. at 10. The prosecutor in this case did just that. The State, in 

accordance with the plea agreement, asked the court to order "no 

restitution" and went into detail as to why the State was not requesting that 

restitution be ordered. RP (10/27114) at 9-11, 15-16; CP at 92-108. 

Despite this agreed recommendation, the trial court ordered counsel to 

provide an accounting of what Palmer owed to the victim to determine 

what restitution, if any, should be ordered. RP (10/27/11) at 17. At the 

restitution hearing, the State reiterated that it "provided the briefing and 

documents to the court based upon the court's request for a determination 

of what restitution, if any, is owing." RP (11110111) at 23. At no time did 

the State ask the trial court to order restitution. RP (11/10/11) at 23, 30-32. 

Palmer's argument, that the State breached the plea agreement by 

affirmatively arguing for restitution and by not presenting a unified front, 

is not substantiated by the record. Pet. App. at 10. To the contrary, the 

totality of the sentencing records show that the State, through its 

memorandum and statements in court, asked the court not to impose 

restitution while complying with its ethical obligations to honestly answer 

the court's directquestions. RP (10/27/11) at 9-11, 15-16; RP (11/10/11) 

at 23, 30-32; CP at 59-80. 

.. 
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Palmer claims the State breached the plea agreement when it 

advised the court "we come up with a much higher number than defense." 

RP (11/10/11) at 31, Pet. App. at 10. Palmer mischaracterizes the State's 

position by relying on a partial quote and taking it out of context. 

The cited statement was made to account for the differing figures, first by 

correcting Palmer's trial attorney's factual misstatement, and then to 

explain the differing accounting methods. Specifically, Palmer's counsel 

incorrectly advised the court that L&I had not subtracted the $7,000 

permanent partial disability award they recouped from the unpaid monies 

owing. RP (1111 0/11) at 29-31. Then, to explain to the court how the 

parties came up with different amounts owing to L&I, the prosecutor said: 

And the reason that we come up with a 
much higher number than defense counsel is 
because the orders that are setting forth what 
the amount is owed as attached in Exhibit A 
and B, show that these are the times that 
they [L&I] knew that the defendant was 
working or capable of working. 

RP (11/1 0/11) at 31. 

Further, this quote is merely a portion of a fuller accounting 

showing how L&I concluded that the restitution amount in this case 

totaled $10,929.93. The prosecutor did not ask for this higher amount or 

any amount of restitution, she simply pointed out the differences in the 

parties accounting, so that the court could make an informed decision. 
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RP (11/1 0/11) at 31. This presentation of the accounting evidence 

proffered to help the trial court decide what, if any, restitution was owing, 

does not amount to advocating against the State's recommendation and 

therefore did not violate the terms of the plea agreement. See Talley, 134 

Wn.2d at 186. (Presenting evidence that will help the court make a 

decision does not amount to advocating against an earlier recommendation 

therefore does not violate the terms of the plea agreement.) Instead, she 

simply complied with the Court's directive to have L&I do an accounting 

of how much money Palmer owed L&l. 

In the instant case, the State answered the trial court's specific 

questions by giving only pertinent specific facts of the accounting of the 

restitution amount outstanding; accounted for "the reason" why L&I 

arrived at a "much higher number than defense counsel," and did not 

advocate for the court to impose either amount. RP (11/10/11) at 23, 

30-32; CP at 59-80. In reviewing the totality of the sentencing record, the 

State's words and deeds at the plea, sentencing, and restitution hearing can 

only be construed as mere participation, not advocacy for restitution. 

Palmer's second argument seems to be that the State did not 

present a "united front" because the State did not agree with his 

accountings of restitution. Pet. App. at 10. This argument fails since the 

State, as an officer of the court, has a duty of candor toward the tribunal 
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under Rules of Professional Conduct 3.3, and has an ethical obligation to 

answer honestly and to correct factual inaccuracies. See United States v. 

Mondragon, 228 F.3d 978, 980 (9th Cir. 2000); See also United States v. 

Maldonado, 215 F.3d 1046, 1051-1052, (9th Cir. 2000). Here the 

prosecutor's fulfillment of her ethical responsibilities to honestly answer 

the court's questions and correct a factual inaccuracy cannot form the 

basis for finding that she breached the plea agreement, therefore, this 

Court should deny Palmer's petition. 

Contrary to Palmer's current contention, Palmer's trial attorney, at 

the time of the hearings, clearly believed the State was not asking for 

restitution or breaching the plea agreement. First, at the beginning of his 

statements at the restitution hearing, Palmer's trial attorney stated, "I want 

to thank the State for agreeing in the sentencing agreement, the whole 

basis of the plea of guilty here, the basis of that was this agreement that 

there would be no restitution." RP (11110111) at 24. Then, after hearing all 

statements by the prosecutor at the restitution hearing, including the quote 

currently utilized by Palmer, he said "[t]here is no restitution requested by 

the State of Washington here." RP (11/10/11) at 35-36. 

This unified belief that the prosecutor was not requesting 

restitution or breaching the plea agreement is clearly shown by the 

prosecutor asking that restitution not be ordered, the trial court reiterating 
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that the State's recommendation was for "no restitution[,]" the trial court's 

statement that it was "shocked" the State was not asking for restitution, 

and Palmer's trial attorney's repeated comments that the State was not 

asking for restitution and was not "reneging" on the plea agreement. 

RP (10/27/11) at 9-11, 15-16; RP (11/10/11) at 24, 35-36, 39-40. 

A full review of the totality of a prosecutor's actions and 

comments from the entire sentencing record shows that the prosecutor did 

not breach the plea agreement. Rather, the prosecutor supported its 

recommendation, gave all the reasons why the Court should not order 

restitution, and only in response to a court order provided the Court the 

bare and neutral facts so it could make an informed decision. Since Palmer 

has not met the limited circumstances of review under RAP 13 .4(b) in any 

of his arguments the Court should deny Palmer's Petition for Review. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, the State asks this Court to deny 

Palmer's Petition for Review. 
1"